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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

LECH NADBORSKI, Individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

PLAINTIFF,
V.

)
)
)
)
)
) Case No.
THE RECEIVABLE MANAGEMENT )
SERVICES CORPORATION, )
)
)
)

DEFENDANT. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CLASS COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Lech Nadborski, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated, files
this Class Complaint under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq.
(“FDCPA”), for a finding that Defendant’s debt collection actions violated the FDCPA, and to
recover damages for Defendant’s violations of the FDCPA, and alleges:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 8 1692k(d) of the FDCPA, and 28 U.S.C. §
1331.

2. Venue is proper in this District because the acts and transactions occurred here,
and Defendant transacts substantial business here.

STANDING

3. Plaintiff and the putative class have suffered an injury in fact that is traceable to
Defendant’s conduct and is likely to be redressed by a favorable decision in this matter.

4. Specifically, Plaintiff and the putative class suffered a personalized and concrete

injury in the form of, among other things, false communications to Plaintiff, and the putative
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class, regarding their consumer rights under the FDCPA, and Defendant’s failure to provide
Plaintiff and the putative class with truthful and accurate disclosures required under the FDCPA.

5. Defendant’s actions have thus caused Plaintiffs to suffer an injury, giving rise to
standing before this Court. Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1544 (2016), quoting Lujan
v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 580 (1992) (Congress has the power to define injuries
and articulate chains of causation that will give rise to a case or controversy where none existed
before.); Bellwood v. Dwivedi, 895 F. 2d 1521, 1526-27 (7th Cir. 1990) (“Congress can create
new substantive rights, such as a right to be free from misrepresentations, and if that right is
invaded the holder of the right can sue without running afoul of Article 111, even if he incurs no
other injury[.]”).

PARTIES

6. Plaintiff, Lech Nadborski (“Plaintiff’), is a resident of the State of Illinois, from
whom Defendant attempted to collect a delinquent consumer debt allegedly owed to VVonage for
telephone services allegedly used by Plaintiff for personal, family and household use. Plaintiff is
thus a consumer as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) of the FDCPA.

7. Defendant, The Receivable Management Services Corporation (“RMS"), is a
Delaware based corporation with its principal place of business at 240 Emery Street, Bethlehem,
Pennsylvania 18015.

8. RMS is engaged in the business of a collection agency, using the mails and
telephone to collect consumer debts originally owed to others.

9. RMS acts as a debt collector as defined by § 1692a(6) of the FDCPA because it
uses the instrumentalities of interstate commerce including the telephone and/or the mails in its

business, the principal purpose of which is the collection of defaulted consumer debts.
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10.  RMS also acts as a debt collector as defined by § 1692a(6) of the FDCPA as it
regularly attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or

due to another.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

11. Defendant has alleged that Plaintiff incurred a debt due to an allegedly defaulted
Vonage account, that was used for personal, family or household telephone services (“alleged
debt”). The alleged debt is thus a “debt” as that term is defined at § 1692a(5) of the FDCPA.
12.  Defendant has alleged that Plaintiff failed to pay the full balance and that the
account later entered default.
13.  Vonage subsequently transferred or assigned the alleged debt to RMS for
collection from Plaintiff.
14.  On August 8, 2017, RMS mailed Plaintiff a collection letter. (Exhibit A,
Collection Letter).
15.  The letter contained the alleged balance, a claim number and a reference number.
16.  The letter was a communication as that term is defined at § 1692a(2) in the
FDCPA.
17.  Upon information and belief, the letter was an initial form letter sent by RMS to
numerous consumers throughout the state of Illinois.
18.  On the back of the letter, RMS included the validation notice required by 15
U.S.C. § 1692¢, and stated:
IMPORTANT INFORMATION
Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you
dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this office will assume

this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after
receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion
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thereof, this office will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a
judgment, if any, and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. If
you request this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice
RMS will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if
different from the current creditor.

(Exhibit A, August 8, 2017, Collection Letter)
19.  On the front of the letter, RMS included the additional paragraph:

If you have not yet been contacted by an RMS representative, you will be
receiving a call to bring this matter to a resolution. Should you receive this
letter after a discussion with our representative, we thank you for your
cooperation.

20.  The statement by RMS that the consumer “will be receiving a call to bring this
matter to a resolution” is inconsistent with the validation notice located on the back of the letter.
21.  Additionally, the letter states

IMPORTANT: REFER TO CLAIM NUMBER IN ALL
COMMUNICATIONS

22. 15 U.S.C. § 16929 of the FDCPA states in relevant part:

(a) Notice of debt;

Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer
in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall,
unless the following information is contained in the initial
communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the
consumer a written notice containing—

(1) the amount of the debt;
(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed;

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after
receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any
portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt
collector;

(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in
writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any
portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain
verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the
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consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be
mailed to the consumer by the debt collector; and

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within
the thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the
consumer with the name and address of the original creditor, if
different from the current creditor.

23.  The letter to Plaintiff would cause a consumer to believe that RMS would call
them, and on the call, they could resolve any issues with the account, including a dispute or
request for verification of the debt. However, this is inconsistent with the FDCPA, since a
consumer can only obtain verification and validation of the alleged debt by notifying the debt
collector in writing within 30 days of receiving the collection letter.

24.  This additional information from RMS is likely to cause a consumer to wait until
RMS calls to dispute the debt, which may never actually occur, since RMS is under no obligation
to call a consumer. Additionally, even if RMS called, it is not guaranteed it would actually reach
the consumer.

25.  This language also overshadows the consumer’s rights under § 1692g, since it
states that RMS would call to resolve the account, even if the consumer sends a written request
for verification. Once the written request for verification is made, the debt collector must stop
collection attempts until it sends verification to the consumer.

26. RMS’s demand that the consumer include the “claim number” in all
communications also adds an additional, and unnecessary, requirement to 8 1692g. There is
nothing in that section that allows a debt collector to require a “claim number” in order to
process a consumer’s dispute.

27. Infact, there is nothing in 8 16929 that requires any additional information, such

as a “reference number”, in order to request verification of a debt.
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28. RMS’s false assertions here would cause a consumer to believe that if they were
not able to include a reference number (for example, the consumer discarded the letter), they
would not be able to requires verification of the debt.

29. 15U.S.C. 8 1692¢ of the FDCPA states in relevant part:

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.
Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the following
conduct is a violation of this section:

... (5) The threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that
is not intended to be taken...

... (10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to
collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information
concerning a consumer. . . .

30. Defendant violated §8 1692e and 1692e(5) when it claimed that it would call
Plaintiff “to bring this matter to a resolution”, even if Plaintiff requested verification of the debt
or disputed it within 30 days of receipt of the letter.

31. Defendant violated 88§ 1692e and 1692e(10) when it claimed that it would call
Plaintiff “to bring this matter to a resolution”, which would cause a consumer to believe that he
did not have to dispute the alleged debt or request verification in writing, because Defendant
would call to resolve the matter.

32. Defendant’s collection communications are to be interpreted under the
“unsophisticated consumer” standard. See, Gammon v. GC Services, Ltd. Partnership, 27 F.3d
1254, 1257 (7th Cir. 1994).

COUNT I—FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT-CLASS CLAIM

33.  Plaintiff realleges the previous paragraphs as if set forth fully in this count.
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34.  The language in RMS’s letter is false, misleading and overshadows the validation
notice on the back-side of the letter.

35. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g when it overshadowed the validation
notice, by telling the consumer that an RMS representative would call “to bring this matter to a
resolution”, which could lull the consumer into believing that they would not need to proactively
dispute the alleged debt within the 30-day time period proscribed in the FDCPA, thus losing
valuable rights.

36. Defendant also violated 15 U.S.C. 8 16929 when it stated that an RMS
representative would call “to bring this matter to a resolution”, when it would not have the right
to do so if the consumer mailed RMS a verification request, since RMS could not continue
collection attempts until it sent verification of the debt to the consumer.

37. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g when it demanded that Plaintiff include
RMS’s “claim number” in all communications, when that is not required in order to dispute an
alleged debt.

38. Defendant violated 88 1692e and 1692e(5) when it claimed that it would call
Plaintiff “to bring this matter to a resolution”, even if Plaintiff requested verification of the debt
or disputed it within 30 days of receipt of the letter.

39. Defendant violated §8 1692e and 1692e(10) when it claimed that it would call
Plaintiff “to bring this matter to a resolution”, which would cause a consumer to believe that he
did not have to dispute the alleged debt or request verification in writing, because Defendant
would call to resolve the matter.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

40.  Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of a Class.
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41. Plaintiff’s proposed class consists of (a) all individuals with Illinois addresses (b)
who were sent a collection letter, by or on behalf of RMS, in the form represented by Exhibit A
of this Class Complaint (c) to collect a consumer debt (d) that was sent from July 31, 2017, to 21
days after the filing of this complaint (e) that was not returned as undeliverable by the postal
service.

42. Defendant regularly engages in debt collection, including attempting to collect
debt via the mails, in their regular course of business.

43.  The Class consists of more than 35 persons from whom Defendant attempted to
collect a debt using the language that Plaintiff alleges violates the FDCPA.

44.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class. Common questions of law
or fact raised by this class action complaint affect all members of the Class and predominate over
any individual issues. Common relief is therefore sought on behalf of all members of the Class.
This class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of
this controversy.

45.  The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class would
create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to the individual members of
the Class, and a risk that any adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class
would, as a practical matter, either be dispositive of the interests of other members of the Class
not party to the adjudication, or substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their
interests.

46.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of the Class.
The management of the class action proposed is not extraordinarily difficult, and the factual and

legal issues raised by this class action complaint will not require extended contact with the
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members of the Class, because the Defendants conduct was perpetrated on all members of the

Class and will be established by common proof. Moreover, Plaintiff has retained counsel

experienced in class action litigation including class actions brought under the FDCPA.

47. Because of the Defendant’s violations of the FDCPA, Plaintiff and the class are

entitled to an award of statutory damages, costs and reasonable attorney fees.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Lech Nadborski, individually and on behalf of all others

similarly situated, respectfully requests that the Court:

A
B.

Certify this action as a class action;

Appoint Plaintiff as Class Representative of the Class, and his attorneys as
Class Counsel,

Enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against Defendant, for statutory
damages, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees as provided by § 1692k(a)
of the FDCPA; and,

Grant such further relief as deemed just.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands trial by jury.
Respectfully submitted,

By:  /s/ Bryan Paul Thompson
One of Plaintiff’s Attorneys

Bryan Paul Thompson

Robert W. Harrer

Chicago Consumer Law Center, P.C.
111 West Washington Street, Suite 1360
Chicago, Illinois 60602

Tel. 312-858-3239
Fax 312-610-5646

bryan.thompson@cclc-law.com
rob.harrer@cclc-law.com
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DOCUMENT PRESERVATION DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demands that defendant take affirmative steps to preserve all recordings,
data, documents, and all other tangible things that relate to plaintiff, the events described herein,
any third party associated with any telephone call, campaign, account, sale or file associated with
plaintiff, and any account or number or symbol relating to them. These materials are likely very
relevant to the litigation of this claim. If defendant is aware of any third party that has possession,
custody, or control of any such materials, plaintiff demands that defendant request that such third
party also take steps to preserve the materials. This demand shall not narrow the scope of any
independent document preservation duties of the defendant.

By: /s/ Bryan Paul Thompson

One of Plaintiff’s Attorneys

10
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EXHIBIT A
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P.0O. BOx 3615923236
Columbus OH 613-1545
613-1545

Phone: 800-
Toll Free: 800-

The Receivable Management Services Corporation

]
Lech Nadborski August 08, 2017

II"II”III“IIII"IIIlllllll"l"llllll”IIlIIIlI”IlIlIIII“
Re: VONAGE
Claim amt: $142.07
Claim No: ]
Ref. No: [ ]
LD#7

Tnis is a request Tor payment oT this account which has been placed by
VONAGE for collection. Please remit yvour pavment to the address above.

If you have not_yvet been contacted by an RMS representative, you will be
receivin%ha call to bring this matter to a resolution. Should you

receive is letter after a discussion with our representative, we thank
vou for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Mitch Shape
Collector

When vou provide a check as payment, you authorize us to either use
information from vour check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer
from _your account or to process the payment as a check transaction.

For inquiries, please call the number at the top of this notice.

%¥¥%¥ Pay by phone 1-866-725-2182 or go to http://www.rmsna.com/payrms
: USERID -~ HEEEEEEEN X PASSWORD = I

We will provide vou with the name and address of the original creditor,
if different from the current creditor.

IMPORTANT: REFER TO CLAIM NUMBER IN ALL COMMUNICATIONS

WE ARE A DEBT COLLECTOR ATTEMPTING TO COLLECT A DEBT AND
ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

NOTICE: SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATION
Page 1 OF 1



Case: 1:18-cv-05205 Document #: 1-1 Filed: 07/31/18 Page 3 of 3 PagelD #:13

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this
debt or any portion thereof, this office will assume this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing
within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof,
this office will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment, if any, and mail you a copy
of such judgment or verification. If you request this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this
notice RMS will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the
current creditor.

We are required under state law to give you the following notices, and those that may appear on the front
of this letter, some of which refer to rights you also have under federal law. This list does not contain a
complete list of the rights which consumers or commercial businesses have under state and federal law.
Note that notices that apply in the specified states:

STATE APPLICABLE NOTICE

California The state Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the federal Fair Debt

Collection Practices Act require that, except under unusual circumstances, collectors
may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. They may not harass you by using
threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. Collectors may not use false
or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason to know that
you may not receive personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell
another person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt. Collectors may
contact another person to confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more
information about debt collection activities, you may contact the Federal Trade
Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.ftc.gov.

Colorado A consumer has the right to request in writing that a debt collector or collection

(consumers only) agency cease further communication with the consumer. A written request to cease
communication will not prohibit the debt collector or collection agency from taking
any other action authorized by law to collect the debt. FOR INFORMATION
ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, SEE
WWW.COAG.GOV/CAR.

Massachusetts Massachusetts requires us to give the following notice, however, all consumers have
these or similar rights under federal law: NOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS:
YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO MAKE A WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST THAT
TELEPHONE CALLS REGARDING YOUR DEBT NOT BE MADE TO YOU AT
YOUR PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT. ANY SUCH ORAL REQUEST WILL BE VALID
FOR ONLY TEN DAYS UNLESS YOU PROVIDE WRITTEN L()NI*IRIVIATI()T\ OF

ll rl"f?'Y"—‘ RYaYS 'Y\IA:aI"‘J 5l -4 38 L M A) N{A
SUCH REQUEST. YOU MAY TERMINATE THIS REQUEST BY W RITING TO THE

DEBT COLLECTOR.

Please contact us at the address noted on the front of this form.
Office Hours: 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m. EST. Monday through Friday.

RMS 05 (01/10) 8H-803AC/391 -6031 Rev 4/16
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